SUPREME COURT NO. _____

NO. 34333-2-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JONATHAN TERRY,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WALLA WALLA COUNTY

The Honorable M. Scott Wolfram, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

JARED B. STEED
Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC
1908 East Madison
Seattle, WA 98122
(206) 623-2373

B. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

To support Terry's charge of third degree rape, the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the complaining witness, J.M., did not freely agree to the sexual contact and that the lack of consent was clearly expressed to Terry by words or conduct. J.M. could not recall whether the sexual contact was consensual, her conduct was consistent with someone freely consenting, and the trial court found that she "appeared to conscious and participating in the sex". Appendix at 2. Despite these facts, the trial court convicted Terry of third degree rape. A majority of the Court of Appeals concluded that it could not "find the facts differently" from the trial court. Appendix at 7. Where the Court of Appeals applied an incorrect standard of review, and relied on distinguishable case law to support its conclusion, is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2), (b)(3) and (b)(4) to determine whether the State's

¹ A copy of the opinion is attached as an appendix.

evidence was insufficient to support Terry's conviction for third degree rape?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2013, N.G. hosted a party at her father's house. Her boyfriend, D., Terry, and J.M. all attended. RP 61, 73, 91-92. Everyone was drinking alcohol. RP 65-66, 71-72, 76, 79-80, 117-19. J.M. consumed eight shots of liquor. RP 62. It was not the first time J.M. consumed alcohol. RP 100. N.G. believed J.M. was drunk but she never saw J.M. passed out or behaving like she did not know what she was doing. RP 63, 101-02. During the party, J.M. kissed N.G. RP 95-96, 113, 120.

At some point during the evening, J.M. remarked to Terry "don't touch me. I don't want to have sex with you." RP 64. N.G. did not see Terry ever try and actually touch J.M. however. RP 64. Later that evening, N.G. saw Terry performing oral sex on J.M. RP 64, 97-98. N.G. was uncertain who initiated the sexual contact. RP 99. N.G. was surprised because J.M. had a boyfriend and she never knew Terry and J.M. to be romantically interested in each other. RP 65. N.G. did not believe that J.M. was in danger or that the sexual contact was against her will. RP 67-68, 70, 99. Indeed, N.G. heard J.M. moaning in pleasure during the sexual contact and observed her pulling Terry's head closer to her genitals. RP 70, 97.

J.M. could not recall most of the events of the party. RP 76-77. J.M. was surprised when N.G. told her about her sexual contact with Terry. J.M. did not recall consenting to, or refusing, the sexual contact. RP 77-78. When interviewed by police later, J.M. denied any sexual contact between her and Terry occurred. RP 14. She also told police that she consumed alcohol for the first time at N.G.'s party. RP 17, 87.

Terry acknowledged the sexual contact with J.M. RP 121. Terry explained however, that he did not do anything against J.M.'s will. RP 124. Everyone was drinking the night of the incident. RP 118-19. Terry saw J.M. and N.R. kissing. RP 120. At some point, J.M. handed Terry a condom. RP 118. J.M. then took off her pants and told Terry to "eat my pussy. Lick my pussy." RP 121-22. When Terry began performing oral sex, J.M.'s placed her hands on the back of his head and squeezed his hair. J.M. pulled Terry's head closer to her genitals and she began moaning. RP 122. J.M. continued to tell Terry to perform oral sex on her. Terry believed the contact was consensual based on J.M.'s statements to him. At no time did J.M. push Terry's head away. RP 122. The contact stopped after a few minutes when Terry heard N.R. coming back into the room. RP 123. Terry and J.M. remained friends after the incident. No further sexual contact occurred between the two of them. RP 125-26.

Based on this incident, Terry was convicted of one count of third degree rape following a bench trial. The trial court entered one finding concerning whether J.M.'s words and conduct during the sexual contact amount to consent. The trial court found, "[J.M.] appeared to be conscious and participating in the sex." CP 88 (finding of fact 10).

On appeal, Terry argued the evidence was insufficient to sustain his conviction for third degree rape because even when viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, the State failed to prove that J.M. did not freely agree to consensual sexual contact with Terry. Brief of Appellant (BOA) at 6-11.

In an unpublished decision signed by two judges, the Court of Appeals rejected Terry's argument, concluding that although "the evidence easily would have supported..." a finding that J.M. freely consented to the sexual contact, the trial court instead "found that J.M. did not consent and communicated that lack of consent to Mr. Terry." Appendix at 7. The Court of Appeals concluded that because evidence that J.M. may have revoked her refusal did not persuade the trial court, "this court cannot find the facts differently." *Id.* The majority relied on State v. Mares, 190 Wn. App. 343, 361 P.3d 158 (2015). Appendix at 8.

In a dissenting opinion, Judge Lawrence-Berrey pointed out the fallacy of the majority opinion's logic:

[Terry's] testimony is uncontroverted, is consistent with the trial court's finding noted above, and is consistent with N.R.'s testimony that while Mr. Terry performed oral sex on J.M., J.M. pulled him closer, moaned, and encouraged him with words and body movements. Thus, *at the time of sexual contact*, the uncontroverted evidence was that J.M. consented by both words and by conduct. At a minimum, J.M.'s words and conduct during the sexual contact caused her earlier statements to be unclear. The trial court did not otherwise find, and the evidence at trial would not support a contrary finding.

Appendix at dissent 3. (Lawrence-Berrey, J., dissenting) (emphasis in original). The dissenting opinion also noted that State v. Mares was "easily distinguishable". Appendix at dissent 3-4.

Terry now asks this Court to accept review, reverse the Court of Appeals, and dismiss his conviction for third degree rape for insufficient evidence.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW UNDER RAP 13.4(b)(2), (b)(3), and (b)(4) BECAUSE WHETHER INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE EXISTS TO SUSTAIN TERRY'S CONVICTION IS A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF LAW UNDER THE WASHINGTON AND UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONS AND DIVISION THREE'S OPINION CONFLICTS WITH STATE V. MARES.

The State bears the burden of proving all elements of a charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt as a matter of due process. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); State

v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). A conviction must be reversed where, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, no rational trier of fact could find all elements of the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Vasquez, 178 Wn.2d 1, 6, 309 P.3d 318 (2013).

When there is insufficient evidence to support a conviction, the remedy is to reverse the conviction and dismiss the charge with prejudice. State v. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 103, 954 P.2d 900 (1998). This Court should accept review and hold that the State did not present sufficient evidence to sustain the third degree rape conviction because the evidence showed the alleged sexual contact was consensual.

Terry was charged with third degree rape under RCW 9A.44.060(1)(a) which provides:

(1) A person is guilty of rape in the third degree when, under circumstances not constituting rape in the first or second degrees, such person engages in sexual intercourse with another person, not married to the perpetrator:

(a) Where the victim did not consent as defined in RCW 9A.4.010(7), to sexual intercourse with the perpetrator and such lack of consent was clearly expressed by the victim's words or conduct[.]

CP 21-23.

To prove Terry committed third degree rape, the State therefore had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that (1) J.M. did not freely agree to sexual contact with Terry, and that (2) the lack of consent was clearly

expressed to Terry by words or conduct. State v. Guzman, 119 Wn. App. 176, 185, 79 P.3d 990 (2003), rev. denied, 151 Wn.2d 1036, 95 P.3d 758 (2004). “‘Consent’ means that at the time of the act of sexual intercourse or sexual contact there are actual words or conduct indicating freely given agreement to have sexual intercourse or sexual contact.” RCW 9A.44.010(7). The focus is on the complaining witnesses’ words and actions rather than the accused’s subjective assessment thereof. State v. Higgins, 168 Wn. App. 845, 854, 278 P.3d 693 (2012) (citing State v. Walden, 67 Wn. App. 891, 895 n.2, 841 P.2d 81 (1992)), rev. denied, 176 Wn.2d 1012, 297 P.3d 708 (2013). The complaining witnesses’ lack of consent must be ‘clearly manifested.’ State v. Ritola, 63 Wn. App. 252, 256, 817 P.2d 1390 (1991).

Even when viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, the State failed to prove that J.M. did not freely agree to consensual sexual contact with Terry. Significant to the Court of Appeals’ determination to the contrary was its conclusion that it “cannot not find the facts differently” from the trial court. Appendix at 7. This conclusion is contrary to the standard of review following a bench trial.

Following a bench trial, appellate courts review findings of fact for substantial supporting evidence and review conclusions of law to determine whether the findings support them. State v. Homan, 181 Wn.2d 102, 105-

06, 330 P.3d 182 (2014). This Court reviews a claim of sufficiency of the evidence de novo. State v. Berg, 181 Wn.2d 857, 867, 337 P.3d 310 (2014). The purpose of the sufficiency inquiry is to "ensure that the trial court fact finder 'rationally appli[ed]' the constitutional standard required by the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amended, which allows for a conviction of a criminal offense only upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt." Berg, 181 Wn.2d at 867 (quoting State v. Rattana Keo Phuong, 174 Wn. App. 494, 502, 299 P.3d 37 (2013)).

By concluding that it could not "...find the facts differently" from the trial court, the Court of Appeals denied Terry his right to de novo review and due process of law. The Court of Appeals does not find facts. Rather, the relevant inquiry is whether the facts and evidence was sufficient to sustain a conviction. Here, the trial court entered only one finding concerning whether J.M.'s words and conduct during the sexual contact amounted to consent: "[J.M.] appeared to be conscious and participating in sex." CP 88. Thus, as the dissent correctly recognizes, "*at the time of the sexual contact*, the uncontroverted evidence was that J.M. consented by both words and by conduct." Appendix dissent at 3 (emphasis in original). The majority acknowledges that the trial court "easily" could have found the evidence of lack of consent insufficient. Appendix at 7. Given the absence of a contrary

factual finding, this was the only conclusion the trial court could have reached. The Court of Appeals erred in concluding otherwise.

In reaching its conclusion, the majority also relied on State v. Mares, 190 Wn. App. 343, 361 P.3d 158 (2015). Appendix at 8. As the dissent aptly observes however, Mares is "easily distinguishable". Appendix at dissent 3.

Mares was already living in a house with several other people when C.D. also moved in. Mares, 190 Wn. App. at 347. C.D. testified that in the months preceding the alleged sexual assault, there were several occasions when she consistently rebuffed Mares' romantic advances. Mares, 190 Wn. App. at 347-48. One evening, C.D. drank two bottles of wine before going to bed. Some point later, C.D. awoke to find Mares on top of her engaged in sexual intercourse. In response, C.D. grabbed a rifle, cocked it, pointed it at Mares, and told him to leave. Mares, 190 Wn. App. at 348-49. Mares was charged and convicted of one count of third degree rape based on C.D.'s lack of consent. Mares, 190 Wn. App. at 349-50.

On appeal, Mares' noted that C.D.'s lack of consent to sexual intercourse on the night in question was not expressed by words or conduct until the act was already in progress, at which point Mares stopped. Mares, 190 Wn. App. at 356. Mares accordingly argued the

evidence was insufficient because RCW 9A.44.060(1)(a) required that the expression of lack of consent be contemporaneous with the sexual act. Mares, 190 Wn. App. at 351-52.

The Court of Appeals disagreed, concluding that the wording of the statute did not include an implicit requirement that a victim's clear expression of lack of consent must take place at the time of the sexual intercourse. Mares, 190 Wn. App. at 354-55. The Court likewise concluded that there was "more than enough evidence" from which the jury could conclude that C.D. clearly and consistently expressed her lack of consent to sexual intercourse with Mares, including: "deflecting embraces by pushing away his hands, telling him that what he was doing was wrong, threatening to take him home and to tell her aunt and uncle about his conduct, telling him to leave her room, and yelling at him." Mares, 190 Wn. App. at 357.

Mares is distinguishable for several reasons. First, unlike Mares, Terry does not argue that RCW 9A.44.060(1)(a) requires the expression of lack of consent be contemporaneous with the sexual contact. Rather, Terry argues that the evidence demonstrates that J.M.'s conduct "at the time of the act..." demonstrates a "freely given agreement to have sexual contact." BOA at 9 (citing RCW 9A.44.010(7)). Textually, RCW 9A.44.060 ties 'consent' to the temporally-qualified definition in RCW

9A.44.010(7). Mares, 190 Wn. App. at 354. This is an important distinction because, as Mares recognizes, "[i]t is clear that the legislature did not intend to criminalize sexual intercourse involving a perpetrator who reasonably but mistakenly believed that the victim was a willing participant." 190 Wn. App. at 353.

Moreover, as Mares makes clear, expressions of lack of consent can be recanted. 190 Wn. App. at 354. Here, notwithstanding J.M.'s statements earlier in the evening, her subsequent conduct of moaning in pleasure and pulling Terry's head closer to her genitals, together with her inability to say that the sexual contact was not consensual, demonstrates that "at the time of the act..." J.M. consented to the sexual contact. BOA at 9.

Finally, in Mares, C.D. did not act in a manner that contradicted her earlier expressed refusal to have sex with Mares. Here, the uncontroverted evidence revealed that during the sexual contact, J.M. consented by both words and conduct or, at a minimum caused her earlier statements to be unclear. Appendix at dissent 3.

Because the evidence is insufficient to sustain Terry's conviction for third degree rape, and the majority's reliance on State v. Mares is misplaced, this Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(2), (b)(3) and (b)(4).