FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/5/2017 2:26 PM
COA BY SUSAN III CARLSON
CLERK

No
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
v.
JONATHAN TERRY,
Appellant.
PETITION FOR REVIEW
RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Respectfully submitted:

by: Teresa Chen, WSBA 31762 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

P.O. Box 5889 Pasco, Washington 99301 (509) 545-3561

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. THE PETITION DOES NOT PRESENT ANY ISSUE DESERVING OF DISCRETIONARY REVIEW.

The Defendant/Petitioner claims the Court of Appeals applied an incorrect standard of review. Petition for Review at 1, citing RAP 13.4(b). In fact, the Court of Appeals applied the correct standard of review. These standards are well established in both state and federal law.

"A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom." *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992) (emphasis added). "[A]ll reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the defendant." *Id.* (emphasis added). After viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, interpreting all inferences in favor of the State and most

strongly against the Defendant, the Court must determine whether any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979); *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d at 201.

The Defendant complains that the court of appeals stated that it could not find the facts differently from the trial court. Petition for Review at 1. This is the correct standard. In a juvenile trial, a bench trial, the trial court is the finder of fact. A reviewing court defers to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, witness credibility, and persuasiveness of the evidence. *State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874–75, 83 P.3d 970 (2004). *See also Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. at 319 ("Once a defendant has been found guilty of the crime charged, the factfinder's role as weigher of the evidence is preserved through a legal conclusion that upon judicial review *all of the evidence* is to be considered in the light most favorable to the prosecution."); *Wright v. Florida*, 474 U.S. 1094, 1096, 106 S.Ct. 870, 88 L.Ed.2d 909 (1986) (questions of witness credibility are the special province of the factfinder).

Insofar as Mr. Terry testified that J.M. changed her mind and consented to sex, the trial judge disbelieved him. Unpub. Op. at 7. There are many good reasons in the record to find Mr. Terry not a credible

witness.

There was his pattern of taking advantage of vulnerable people. He assaulted S.C., C.Z., and M.A. in group settings without requesting consent and when they were vulnerable – asleep in close quarters. He assaulted J.M. after she had consumed an enormous amount of alcohol in a short period of time. She was sitting on the floor at the foot of the stairs, begging N.R. not to leave her behind with the Defendant. RP 96.

There was his refusal to apologize to any victim or express any remorse. He does not appear to have ever addressed the encounters after the fact, whether to apologize or to attempt to kindle a sexual or romantic relationship with them. He acted as if nothing had happened. He was an opportunist with a preference for the unconscious or otherwise incapacitated.

It was not credible that J.M. would have requested sex from him when she was profoundly uncomfortable around him and consistently expressed the lack of any attraction to him. He lacked credibility by refusing to acknowledge the effect of an enormous amount of alcohol on himself or even J.M. who was significantly smaller. RP 142.

Initially the Defendant acknowledged that none of his victims consented. His subsequent, self-serving, conflicting testimony that a

physical response in a sleeping person was equivalent to acquiescence and consent to sexual contact is a harmful myth and not convincing.

The trial judge's credibility decision is unreviewable. The Court of Appeals made no error in applying this legal standard.

B. SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE CONVICTION OF RAPE WHERE THE EVIDENCE OF LACK OF CONSENT WAS THE VICTIM'S CONTEMPORANEOUS RECORDED STATEMENT: "DON'T TOUCH ME. I DON'T WANT TO HAVE SEX WITH YOU."

For a conviction of rape in the third degree, the State must prove that the victim did not consent (by actual and contemporaneous words or conduct indicating freely given agreement). RCW 9A.44.010 (7); RCW 9A.44.060. It is the sufficiency of the evidence for this element which Mr. Terry contests.

A sexual assault victim can express <u>lack</u> of consent at any time. "Textually, RCW 9A.44.060 ties only 'consent,' not 'lack of consent,' to the temporally-qualified definition in RCW 9A.44.010(7)." *State v. Mares*, 190 Wn. App. 343, 354, 361 P.3d 158, 163 (2015).

... it is clear that the substance of the expression can be more important than its timing. Some expressions of lack of consent, if not recanted, are timeless: "Don't ever touch me again;" "If you lay a hand on me, I'm calling the cops;" "I wouldn't have sex with you if you were the last person on

Earth." And a statement three weeks ago that "We are cousins; what you are doing is wrong; it is not okay" says more about a person's attitude than does a statement a few moments ago that "I don't know; I'm tired."

State v. Mares, 190 Wn. App. at 354-55.

The standard requires that on review we accept that J.M. was credible, which is a finding implicit in the verdict. In J.M.'s recorded, sworn statement, she asserted that she had no sexual interest in Mr. Terry. RP 168, 171, 174, 177, 180. The idea of anything romantic between them she found weird. She did not even want to party with him. RP 170. She thought he was odd, and he made her uncomfortable. RP 177. She did not want a sexual encounter with him. RP 174. A victim's testimony that she did not want the defendant to touch her and she felt that he did something he should not have can be evidence supportive of her lack of consent. *State v. Bucknell*, 144 Wn. App. 524, 530, 183 P.3d 1078, 1081 (2008).

J.M. expressed her non-attraction in her conduct. At the party, she followed N.R. around and asked N.R. not to leave her alone with Mr. Terry. She also spent the party engaged in cell phone communications with her boyfriend. RP 71, 93. This conduct was a clear signal to Mr. Terry that her interest was elsewhere engaged. Responding to advances by expressing that one is in a relationship with someone else is evidence

of lack of consent to have sex. *State v. Corey*, 181 Wn. App. 272, 278, 325 P.3d 250, *review denied* 181 Wn.2d 1008, 335 P.3d 941 (2014).

The substance of her expression was unequivocal. She did not want Mr. Terry to have sex with her or to even touch her. And for emphasis, she even recorded herself saying that. RP 71. Her recording is a communication to those immediately present that her refusal is emphatic and recorded as a safeguard against any future misconduct. As she slipped deeper and deeper into intoxication and incapacitation, while she still had the ability to express herself, J.M. taped her statement as a threat should the unwanted attentions continue. She wanted Mr. Terry to know that her refusal was on the record.

After Mr. Terry began to have sex with her, her friends attempted to intervene. N.R. told Mr. Terry to stop. RP 177. And D.R. told Mr. Terry to stop. RP 177-78. They had been present during the recording of her refusal. From their reaction, we can infer that they interpreted that J.M. did not want this and that it was Mr. Terry, not J.M., who was in control and who needed to be told to stop.

J.M. had imbibed an enormous amount of alcohol very quickly, which prevented her from encoding or retaining memories of the event. But that very night "she had been saying things, like, don't touch me. I

don't want to have sex with you." RP 64. No extra inference need be drawn here. Her expression is clear. She did not consent.

The court of appeals concluded "J.M. did not consent and communicated that lack of consent to Mr. Terry." Unpub. Op. at 7.

Where lack of consent is clearly expressed by a victim's words or conduct, any asserted "misunderstanding" by a perpetrator is unreasonable and justifies punishment. *State v. Higgins*, 168 Wash.App. 845, 854, 278 P.3d 693 (2012) ("Our focus, and certainly the jury's focus, is more properly on the victim's words and actions rather than [the perpetrator's] subjective assessment of what is being communicated.").

State v. Mares, 190 Wn. App. at 353–54. See also State v. Bray, 23 Wn. App. 117, 120–21, 594 P.2d 1363, 1367 (1979) (victim clearly expressed her lack of consent where she repeatedly asked to be allowed to leave, where she did not have a prior romantic relationship with her neighbor, and where the defendant was much bigger than the victim).

The Defendant's entire claim rests on a reviewing court believing his testimony. But the lower court at the bench trial did not believe him. That credibility determination cannot be reversed by a court of review that did not view the witnesses during testimony.

There was a direct conflict in the evidence upon the principal issues, and we have held that in such cases, where the trial court might have decided either way upon the conflicting testimony, even though a greater number of witnesses may have testified one way than the other, the trial court, having an opportunity of viewing the witnesses and their demeanor and credibility, has a better opportunity to judge of their credibility and of the weight to be given their testimony, and, where the evidence does not preponderate against the findings of the trial court, we will not disturb its findings.

Dunagan v. Sch. Dist. No. 4 of Snohomish Cty., 118 Wash. 160, 162, 203 P. 15, 15 (1922). A court of review cannot hear tone and pauses in the testimony. It cannot see body posture and movement. It cannot catch micro-expressions leaking true emotion. It does not catch shared glances. It cannot reverse findings of credibility.

The Defendant relies upon the dissenting opinion which disregarded the constitutional mandate that a reviewing court view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, interpreting all inferences in favor of the State and most strongly against the Defendant. The dissent believes the Defendant's testimony. Unpub. Op. at 2 (Lawrence-Berrey, J., dissenting) (crediting the Defendant's testimony "concerning J.M.'s words and conduct during the sexual contact"). The Defendant testified that J.M. actually requested sex. RP 121-22. His was the only testimony for this claim. In convicting the Defendant, the judge did not believe the Defendant's testimony that J.M. had requested sex. The reviewing court may not render a different credibility assessment.

The Defendant tries to distinguish *State v. Mares*, 190 Wn. App. 343, 361 P.3d 158, 163 (2015). The cases are not distinguishable. There the rape victim C.D. "consistently rebuffed Mares' romantic advances." Petition at 9, citing *State v. Mares*, 190 Wn. App. at 347-48. In the same way, J.M. has never expressed any interest in Mr. Terry. She avoided him both before and after the assault. She recorded her rejection of him. C.D. had been drinking. Petition at 9. J.M. had been drinking. When C.D. became aware of the assault, she resisted. Petition at 9, citing *State v. Mares*, 190 Wn. App. at 348-49. J.M. was in a state of blackout through the entire assault, but when she became aware of the assault, she resisted by cooperating with police and by testifying. Both victims expressed no desire for sexual intercourse. C.D. expressed this in the months preceding the attack. J.M. expressed her refusal to have sex that very night, mere hours or minutes before the assault.

The Defendant argues that his case is different because of his testimony. Petition at 10-11. His case is not different. Both the Defendant and Mr. Mares testified at their trials. Mr. Mares testified that C.D. never asked him to leave and had engaged in consensual intercourse on two other occasions. *State v. Mares*, 190 Wn. App. at 350. "The jury did not believe him and returned a guilty verdict." *Id.* The Defendant

Terry testified that his victim consented. His testimony was discounted as not credible. Because the factfinders found both defendants not credible, their testimony does not enter into the equation in a sufficiency claim.

The Defendant argues that he reasonably believed J.M. consented. Petition at 11. That is not what the factfinder found. Nor is it reasonable to believe that person who consistently demonstrates zero attraction to the Defendant, who repeatedly and publicly says she does not want to have sex, has changed her mind because in a drunken stupor in the midst of an assault she moans and touches the offending part of her assailant.

The Defendant relies on the dissenting opinion which distressingly believes that J.M.'s physical response to sexual contact was "uncontroverted evidence of consent." Petition at 5. This is the kind of opinion that can and should result in censure.

Canadian Justice Robin Camp resigned just this year after the Judicial Council recommended his removal for similar misconduct during a rape trial. *In re Robin Camp*, Report and Recommendation of the Inquiry Committee, Canadian Judicial Council (2016-11-29)²; *In re Robin Camp*, Report to the Minister of Justice, Canadian Judicial Council (2017-

²https://www.cjc-ccm.gc.ca/cmslib/general/Camp_Docs/2017-03-08%20Report%20to%20Minister.pdf

03-08)³. In that trial, after commenting that the rape victim was obligated to put up more of a struggle, the judge acquitted the defendant. Mallory Hendry, <u>Justice Robin Camp resigns following CJC report</u>, Canadian Lawyer (March 9, 2017).⁴ He reasoned, "Young wom[e]n want to have sex, particularly if they're drunk" and "sex and pain sometimes go together ... that's not necessarily a bad thing." Report and Recommendation at 23, 52.

The CJC found Justice Camp's conduct "so manifestly and profoundly destructive of the concept of the impartiality, integrity and independence of the judicial role that public confidence is sufficiently undermined to render the Judge incapable of executing the judicial office." Report and Recommendation at 3, 101.

In our case, the majority opinion stated the obvious:

Even if the victim did respond physically and verbally to Mr. Terry's ministrations, her physical response is not evidence that she consented to the action. Whether or not she consciously enjoyed the activity is a different question than whether she agreed to it.

Unpub. Op. at 8.

³https://www.cjc-ccm.gc.ca/cmslib/general/Camp_Docs/2016-11-29%20CJC%20Camp%20Inquiry%20Committee%20Report.pdf.

 $^{^{4}\ \}underline{\text{http://www.canadianlawyermag.com/legalfeeds/author/mallory-hendry/justice-robin-camp-resigns-following-cjc-report-7337/}$

The dissent discusses J.M.'s *responsive* conduct during the sexual contact. Unpub. Op. at 3. C.Z., S.C., and M.A. also had a physical response to the sexual contact. Coming *after* the fact of the assault, their responses to the assaults could not have provided consent.

Nor does a physical response necessarily indicate enjoyment. First, a physical response is open to interpretation. It is hardly unusual for a soused person to moan while collapsed on the floor. A moan could express pain, disgust, or nausea. Nor would be unusual for a victim to make contact with her assailant during the assault. RP 64 (holding onto his head). An intoxicated person's feckless tug on her assailant's hair may be a vain attempt at resistance. To interpret this evidence in the Defendant's favor and against the State (BOA at 8) is antithetical to the standard of review.

And second, a physical response can be automatic and unwanted. For example, a male can be forced into an erection that he neither wants nor enjoys. This was the case for C.Z., S.C., and M.A.. For a judge to find that a rape victim's erection was "uncontroverted" proof of consent would be reprehensible and ignorant. Interpretation of a physical response as proof of consent is as harmful to victims as false claims that a pregnancy cannot result from "legitimate rape."

... we live in an era where sexual assaults are underreported, a phenomenon that is correlated to the persistence of rape myths in the criminal justice system. The confidence of women in the judicial system is presently undermined by indications that justice system participants accept these kinds of discredited myths and biases. In this context, the resounding rejection of this type of thinking and its expression in the courtroom reinforces public confidence in the justice system.

Report and Recommendation at 74.

Under the standard of review, the court's verdict is supported by sufficient evidence that the victim, who recorded herself loudly and repeatedly asserting that she did not want Mr. Terry to touch her or have sex with her, did not consent to sex.

The court of appeals applied the correct and long-held standard.

There is no consideration permitting discretionary review.

VI. CONCLUSION

Based upon the forgoing, the State respectfully requests this Court affirm the Appellant's conviction.